



Developer Services New Connections Charging Arrangements 2020/2021

Consultation - October 2019



# **Table of Contents**

## Contents

Table	e of Contents 2
1.	Introduction
2	Definitions
3	Infrastructure Charges
4	Requisition Charges and Income Offset
5	Charges and Asset Payments – Self-lay Water Mains
6	New Appointments and Variations (NAVs)14
7	Charges and Fees 2020/2021
8	Design Fees
9	Transitional Arrangements
10	Full Questions List



## 1. Introduction

### 1.1 Affinity Water

We are the largest water-only supplier in the UK, and we are committed to delivering a high-quality water service to all our customers.

We provide on average 900 million litres of water each day to a population of more than 3.6 million people in parts of Bedfordshire, Berkshire, Buckinghamshire, Essex, Hertfordshire, Surrey, the London Boroughs of Harrow and Hillingdon and parts of the London Boroughs of Barnet, Brent, Ealing and Enfield. We also supply water to the Tendring peninsula in Essex and the Folkestone and Dover areas of Kent.



Each year, around 15,000 new properties are connected to our network. Most properties are connected to our existing water mains while others require our network to be extended (and sometimes reinforced) to facilitate connection.

From 1 April 2018, the basis for charging for the new connections services we provide changed. From this date, water companies are required to set charges in accordance with rules made by Ofwat, the water industry regulator. There are two sets of rules that we must follow in setting our charges for the period 1 April 2020 to 31 March 2021, both published by Ofwat in July 2019:



- Ofwat's Charging Rules for New Connection Services (English Undertakers)<sup>1</sup>
- Charges Scheme Rules issued by the Water Services Regulation Authority under sections 143(6A) and 143B of the Water Industry Act 1991<sup>2</sup>

These rules apply to the provision of water mains and new connections provided for domestic purposes as well as the diversion of water mains situated in private land. They do not apply to:

- a) requests for a supply of water for non-domestic purposes,
- b) requests made by a water supply licensee for the connection of premises to our network, or other steps in respect of that system; or
- c) charges under an agreement to provide one or more water undertakers with a supply of water in bulk.

We are required to determine our charges for new connections services in accordance with the principle that charges covered by the rules should reflect:

- a) fairness and affordability;
- b) environmental protection;
- c) stability and predictability; and
- d) transparency and customer-focused service.

We must also take reasonable steps to ensure the balance between contributions to costs by developers and other customers prior to 1st April 2018, is broadly maintained.

This consultation document sets out our proposals for the main changes to our charges to be implemented by 1st April 2020. We are not proposing to increase any specific charge for the new connections services we provide by more than 5%, except where stated in this consultation document.

The charging rules and charges scheme rules made by Ofwat in July 2019 has introduced a significant policy changes from 1 April 2020. These changes mean that income offsets will no longer be applied to our costs of providing requisitioned water mains and that asset payments will no longer be made to self lay providers. Instead, income offsets will be applied to infrastructure charges payable on each new connection made to our network<sup>3</sup>.

The changes to the charging rules and charges scheme rules will affect:

- 1. Developers
- 2. Self-Lay Providers (SLPs); and
- 3. New Appointees.

Your opinions and comments on our proposed changes are greatly appreciated and are key to helping shape our thinking. We invite you to provide feedback to these proposals in line with the instructions at the end of this document by 11 November 2019.

We would like to receive your feedback on the following areas of change:

- a) Infrastructure Charges,
- b) Income Offset,
- c) Cost recovery for Service Connections "new connections",
- d) Design fees; and
- e) how we will move from the old rules to the new rules (transition).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> www.ofwat.gov.uk/publication/charges-schemes-rules-from-april-2020/

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> www.ofwat.gov.uk/consultation/consultation-on-charging-rules-for-new-connections-and-new-developments-for-english-

companies-from-april-2020/ <sup>3</sup> We note that Ofwat's Charges Scheme Rules define the income offset as being applied to connections to new water mains rather than all connections





Please return your responses to the questions in this consultation to Jordan Scott at <u>jordan.scott@affinitywater.co.uk</u>

We have three sessions scheduled to meet with our customers and gain feedback on our proposals within this document. These sessions are scheduled for the beginning of November:

- 1<sup>st</sup> November NAV meeting
- 5<sup>th</sup> November SLP meeting
- 6<sup>th</sup> Developers

If you would like to join one of these sessions, please email *jordan.scott@affinitywater.co.uk* expressing your interest.

Please note that we will publish our final charges for new connections services and infrastructure charges on 1 February 2020. The proposed charges in this consultation document are for consultation purposes only and may be different to our final charges.

#### **Privacy notice**

The information you provide about yourself will help us understand the views of different stakeholders in the new connections market to inform the development of our Charging Arrangements for New Connections Services. It will be securely stored for one year and only held for the purposes of this project, after which it will be securely disposed of. For more information about privacy please visit: www.affinitywater.co.uk/privacy-notice.aspx By submitting your response, you agree to us using your response in our results. We will not publish names of individuals but may refer to names of organisations.



## 2 Definitions

### 2.1 **Definitions 2019/20**

#### 1. Asset Payment

A payment made by Affinity water when a self-Lay provider installs a water main that is adopted by us. The asset payment is equivalent to the Income Offset provided to developers.

### 2. Developer

Any person or business which is responsible for a development.

#### 3. Income Offset

A sum of money offset against the charges that would otherwise be applied for the provision of a water main in recognition of revenue likely to be received by us in future years for the provision of supplies of water to premises connected to the **new** water main.

#### 4. Infrastructure Charge

A contribution made by the Developer to the overall costs of reinforcing the water supply network. They are payable where new or existing premises are connected for the first time to the public water supply.

#### 5. New Income Offset (2020)

A sum of money offset against the Infrastructure Charge in recognition of the future revenue received by Affinity Water for domestic connections to new water mains.

#### 6. NAV

New appointments and variations (NAVs) are limited companies which provide a water and/or sewerage service to customers in an area which was previously provided by the incumbent monopoly provider. A NAV, therefore, involves one company replacing another as the appointee for a specific geographic area.

#### 7. New Service Connection

A request for a new water connection to Affinity Water's Network where the new connection is to be used for domestic purposes.

### 8. SLP

Self-Lay Providers are independent connection providers who offer an alternative new water supply provision option to developers (rather than getting their new water mains and services laid by the incumbent water company).



## 3 Infrastructure Charges

### 3.1 Application of Infrastructure Charge 2020/2021

The purpose of an infrastructure charge is to enable a charge to be levied to reflect broadly the expected additional load placed on our network by the connection of premises not previously connected to it. Infrastructure charges do not relate to the costs of reinforcing, upgrading or otherwise modifying existing network infrastructure in order to address pre-existing deficiencies in capacity or in capability.

Our 2019/2020 Standard Water Infrastructure Charge is set at a flat rate per property connected for domestic purposes. We are not proposing any change for 2020/21. The 2019/2020 and proposed 2020/21 charges are laid out in the table below;

2019/20 Standard Water Infrastructure Charge per property (£)	375
2020/21 Standard Water Infrastructure Charge per property (£)	375

#### Zonal Infrastructure Charge

We have considered a zonal infrastructure charge to help encourage development in areas that have greater access to water supplies. For example, an increased Infrastructure charge could be made for areas with less access to clean water and a lower charge for areas with additional capacity. However, we have provisionally concluded that for the areas in which we operate, a variable Standard Water Infrastructure Charge would be unlikely to influence developers on the selection of development sites. We would welcome views on this.

#### Water Efficient Developments

Building Regulations include the requirement for all new dwellings to achieve a water efficiency standard of 125 litres of water per person per day. Building Regulations Part G include an 'optional' requirement of 110 litres per person per day for new residential development, which should be implemented through local policy where there is a clear evidence need. Affinity Water operates in areas of serious water stress and supports` the inclusion of a water efficiency standard of 110 litres per person per day being included in planning policies.

To help promote the achievement of this objective, we are considering a discount to the Standard Water Infrastructure Charge for new homes where there is evidence of water efficiency design to a standard of 110 litres (or less) per person per day. The Standard Water Infrastructure Charge would be reduced to  $\pounds$ 310 in these circumstances.

2020/21 Standard Water Infrastructure Charge per property (£)	<= 125 litres per person per day	375
2020/21 Standard Water Infrastructure Charge per property (£)	<= 110 litres per person per day	310

In Section 4 of this Consultation we are proposing an income offset against the standard water infrastructure charge of £310 per property. This would result in a net amount payable to us of £65 for properties designed



to meet the water efficiency standard of 125 litres per person per day and £0 for properties designed to achieve a standard of 110 litres per person per day.

### 3.2 **Questions on Infrastructure Charges**

Q1) Would an Infrastructure Charge that is varied to reflect the availability of water across the Affinity Water area influence your decision on the purchase of a development site?

Q2) Would the inclusion of a reduced infrastructure charge for the development of water efficient homes encourage the installation of water efficiency devices?



## 4 Requisition Charges and Income Offset

### 4.1 Application of Income Offset 2019/2020

We explained in the Introduction to this Consultation that the charging rules and charges scheme rules made by Ofwat in July 2019 have introduced a significant policy change from 1 April 2020. This change means that income offsets will no longer be applied against our costs of providing requisitioned water mains and that asset payments will no longer be made to self lay providers. Instead, income offsets will be applied to infrastructure charges payable on each new connection made to our network.

Currently we contribute 90% of the costs of new water mains requisitions, with the developer meeting the remaining 10%. The relative contributions reflect historical information as to the extent to which the amount of revenue we expect to receive in future years from properties connected to requisitioned water mains exceed the cost of financing the construction of requisitioned water mains, on a net present value basis. Our contribution is known as the 'Income Offset'.

## 4.2 Application of Income Offset 2020/2021

From 1 April 2020, we will apply an income offset to infrastructure charges for all connections made for domestic purposes. This means that Developers requisitioning a new water main will pay our full charges for providing the water main.

Developers will, however, receive the Income Offset at the point at which Infrastructure Charges are paid. This means that an income offset will be provided for all connections made for domestic purposes, regardless of whether the connections are made to a requisitioned water main.

### 4.3 Calculation of Income Offset 2020/21

We propose to provide a standard per property rate for the income offset which will be payable by us at the same time that Infrastructure Charges are payable to us. We have derived the proposed income offset from the total value of income offsets and asset payments for the period 1 April 2017 to the 31 March 2018, divided by the total number of connections as shown in the table below.

Draft Income Off-Set Calculation			
Income Offset / Asset payments from offsets due in 2017/18		£	2 4,426,000.00
Connections for domestic purposes (where an infrastructure charge was applicable)			15,000
Income Offset to be applied to infrastructure charge where a valid connection is made		£	295.07
CPIH Increase 2018	2.10%	£	301.26
CPIH Increase 2019 (Estimated)	2.00%	£	307.29

All above values are indicative and to be confirmed. Final values will be determined when the assurance review is complete



The income offset value used in the examples further within this document is set at **£310** for ease of comparison.

The new income offset amount will be paid direct to the developer when the connection is made as follows:

- We will apply an income offset for each premises connected to our network where an infrastructure charge is applicable,
- The income offset will be applied to connections where a credit against the infrastructure charge has been made,
- the income offset will be applied to the infrastructure charge when the property customer account is agreed, and a billing account is completed,
- an income offset payment will **not be** applicable to service connections to new mains schemes that have already previously received an income offset to the requisitioned mains cost; and
- an income offset payment will **not be** payable to service connections on Self Lay schemes that have already previously received an asset payment for the adopted mains.

We believe that the methods described above have the following advantages:

- 1. the majority of connections for domestic purposes will receive the income offset,
- 2. a flat rate per property income offset will make it simple for customers to calculate the costs for the provision of water for their development; and
- 3. by applying the income offset at the same time as Infrastructure Charges are payable will result in customers receiving payments at the same point in the process.

#### 4.4 Application of Income Offset Examples

The examples below use our charges for 2019/20 to enable a comparison. The charges for 2020/21 may differ from those shown below.

Example 1. New Large Service Connection and a block of 30 flats	2019/20	2020/21	
30 flats connected to a new 63mm service connection (Indicative values inserted to be confirmed)			
Total Service Connection Costs	9,510.00	9,510.00	
Infrastructure Charges	11,250.00	11,250.00	
Income offset	N/A	- 9,300.00	
Total Charges and Fees	20,760.00	11,460.00	
Note: 2019/20 charge values utilised for 2020/21 column to enable clear comparison			
Note: a proposed reduced standard water infrastructure charge of £310 per property could be applied			

Note: a proposed reduced standard water infrastructure charge of £310 per property could be applied for water efficient new homes



Example 2. New Water Main (50m) and 30 Service Connections	2019/20	2020/21
<b>30 plots connected to a new water main</b> (Indicative values inserted to be confirmed)	(£) not inc. Vat	(£) not inc. Vat
Total Service Connections including fees	27,237	27,237
Total New Main Charges including Fees	18,507	18,507
Infrastructure Charges	11,250	11,250
Income offset	- 13,765	- 9,300
Total Charges and Fees	43,229	47,694
Note: 2019/20 charge values utilised for 2020/21 column to enable clear comparison		

Note: a proposed reduced standard water infrastructure charge of £310 per property could be applied for water efficient new homes

Example 3. Single Connection	2019/20	2020/21
<b>1 plot connected to a new water main</b> (Indicative values inserted to be confirmed)	(£) not inc. Vat	(£) not inc. Vat
Service Connection inc fees	2,146	2,146
Infrastructure Charges	375	375
Income offset (per plot)	N/A	- 310
	-	
Total Charges and Fees	2,521	2,211
Note: 2019/20 charge values utilised for 2020/21 column to enable clear comparison		

Note: a proposed reduced standard water infrastructure charge of £310 per property could be applied for water efficient new homes

Example 4. New Water Main and 200 Service Connections	2019/20	2020/21
<b>200 plots connected to a new water main</b> (Indicative values inserted to be confirmed)		
New Main Requisition including fees	68,753	68,753
Service Connections including fees	111,547	111,547
Infrastructure Charges	75,000	75,000
Income offset (90%)	- 49,669	
Income offset per plot		- 62,000
Total Charges and Fees	205,631	193,300
Note: 2019/20 charge values utilised for 2020/21 column to enable clear comparison		



Note: a proposed reduced standard water infrastructure charge of £310 per property could be applied for water efficient new homes



## 5 Charges and Asset Payments – Self-lay Water Mains

## 5.1 Application of Asset Payments 2019/2020

In the current **charging year** If a main is laid by a Self-lay Provider (SLP)

1. SLP Asset Payments: - When a SLP lays a water main on behalf of a developer and we adopt this main, the SLP is paid an Asset Payment which is equivalent to the Income Offset paid to developers.

## 5.2 Application of Asset Payments 2020/2021

We explained in the Introduction to this Consultation that the charging rules and charges scheme rules made by Ofwat in July 2019 have introduced a significant policy change from 1 April 2020. These changes mean that asset payments will no longer be made to self-lay providers.

From 1 April 2020, asset payments will no longer apply so no payments will be made to SLPs.

However, the new income offset will be paid to the Developer as set out in the example below

Example 5. Self-Lay New Water Main and 30 Service Connections	2019/20	2020/21
<b>30 plots connected to a new water main</b> (Indicative values )	(£) not inc. Vat	(£) not inc. Vat
Application Fees	1,552	1,552
Administration Fees	2,773	2,773
Infrastructure Charges	11,250	11,250
Income offset (30 plots) paid to Developer		- 9,300
Asset Value (90% of Affinity Water Charges)	- 13,765	
Total Charges and Fees	1,810	6,275
Note: 2019/20 charge values utilised for 2020/21 column to enable clear comparison		
Note: a proposed reduced standard water infrastructure charge of £310 per property could be applied for water efficient new homes		

### 5.3 Questions on Income Offset

Q3) Should the New Income Offset offered by Affinity Water be offered at a flat rate per property?

Q4) What impact do you anticipate from the change of the Income Offset against Requisition charges to the application of the New Income Offset against Infrastructure Charges?

Q5) What, if any, alternative approaches to the delivery of the New Income Offset would you like Affinity Water to consider?



## 6 New Appointments and Variations (NAVs).

## 6.1 Application of Asset Payments 2019/2020

In 2019/20. where a New Appointee (NAV) lays a water main then we pay an asset payment equivalent to the Income Offset paid to developers.

## 6.2 Application of Asset Payments 2020/2021

From 1 April 2020, no asset payment will be made. However, an income offset will be applied to the infrastructure charges<sup>4</sup> payable by NAVs in respect of connections made to the NAV's network for domestic purposes.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Under our bulk supply agreement with a NAV, the NAV is required to pay for each property connected to its network and amount equivalent to the infrastructure charges that would have been payable to us had the properties been connected to our network.



## 7 Charges and Fees 2020/2021

## 7.1 General

- 1. Our charges and fees are based on the forecast actual cost to deliver the element of the services listed within each section of the charges document. All charges are subject to review to ensure cost reflectivity,
- 2. We are continually reviewing all of our costs and recoveries for preceding years and if we over recover, we will re-evaluate the respective charges for future years and amend accordingly; and
- 3. the review will continue up the deadline for publication of the charges to ensure that we deliver current cost reflective charges and fees.

### 7.2 Review of Requisition Charges

- 1. The <u>Requisition charges</u> 6.5(a), 6.5(b) 6.6, and 6.7 are built up from our contractor construction costs to which we add allowance factors, where required, for traffic management, street works permits, local authority costs and restrictions, road closures, bus stop suspensions, parking bay suspensions and other associated costs based on historical data and estimates of future requirements,
- 2. the review of the requisition charges is currently in progress; and
- 3. the expectation is that there will be no significant increase for these charges.

### 7.3 Review of Connection Charges

- The service <u>Connection charges</u> in Table 7.4(a), 7.4(b) and 7.4(d) are built up from our contractor construction costs to which we add allowance factors, where required, for traffic management, street works permits, local authority costs and restrictions, road closures, bus stop suspensions, parking bay suspensions and other associated costs based on historical data and estimates of future requirements,
- 2. we have undertaken a review of the total cost to deliver the New Service Connections work,
- 3. the review has identified that the forecast costs for the next charging period will be greater than anticipated due to an increase in costs for delivering service connections.
- 4. therefore, our charges for New Service Connections will increase. It is anticipated that the connection charge will increase in the order of 10%. The increase is to ensure that our charges remain cost reflective and help to promote effective competition in the market,
- 5. our fixed charges for your New Service Connection(s) are limited to the cost of connecting to the nearest reasonably practicable point on our network where the existing water main is at least the same diameter as your service connection, and
- 6. if we change the point of connection for capacity reasons or if we need to carry out additional works beyond the point of connection in order to provide capacity for your development, we will make no additional connection charge.



## 7.4 Review of Application and Administration Charges

- 1. The application fee covers our costs associated with reviewing and acknowledging your application, checking to ensure we have all the relevant information, preparing a quotation and/or estimated charges for the works, and issuing a response to you,
- our administration fees reflect the costs we incur for planning, organising, project managing, inspecting and commissioning the construction of the water main and or service connections to serve your development,
- 3. the review of the requisition charges is currently in progress; and
- 4. the expectation is that there will be no significant increase for application and administration charges.

### 7.5 Questions on our Charges and Fees 2020/21

Q6) Do you agree that it is reasonable for us to evaluate our charges on an annual basis to ensure that they are cost reflective of the service provided?

Q7) What, if any, other approaches would you like Affinity Water to consider, in order to, maintain a cost reflective charge.



## 8 Design Fees

### 8.1 Design Fee Proposal

- The background to the design services we provide is that we obtain all our designs via an outsourced Contractor, selected in a competitive tender process. As such we believe that their costs reflected in our charges will be at market rates and comparable i.e. a level playing field to other contractors and Self Lay Providers (SLP),
- 2. the design team provides an inclusive service. The total cost of the design is recovered in the calculated average fee,
- 3. in line with the requirement to provide a fair and level playing field and promote competition, we are undertaking a review of our design fees,
- 4. our intention is to remove the fee for the design review in the upstream market (Work that can only be undertaken by Affinity Water), including the first review and subsequent first revision,
- 5. we are currently in the midst of a review of the charges applied to the downstream market (work that can be undertaken by any suitably qualified designer). Where design services are procured through our business, this service is considered contestable works and we will review our charges to ensure that they are fully reflective of our costs, therefore allowing a margin for equally efficient providers of this service; and
- 6. the early indication of the review is that an increase in design fees will be required to ensure that all of our design costs are recovered. The forecast increase in costs is anticipated to in the order of 20% which will be a significant increase and thus we must consult with our stakeholders on this. This increase will have to be applied to ensure that our costs are reflective and allow a level playing field for entry into a competitive open market.

### 8.2 **Questions on Design Fees**

Q8) Do you agree that our fees for design must be cost reflective and include our reasonable forecast of costs to allow an open fair market?

Q9) Do you agree that cancellation of design review fees for the first submitted design for SLPS removes a barrier for entry into a competitive market?



## 9 Transitional Arrangements

### 9.1 Transition Arrangements Proposal

The new charging rules will be applied from 1st April 2020. We recognise that some quotations for new mains and connections work would have been provided prior to this date and would have been calculated using the 2019/20 charging rules with an expiry date of 31 March 2020.

We are proposing the following to cover the transition period:

- 1. All quotations requested prior to 1 April 2020 will be provided using the 2019/20 Charging Arrangements for New Connections Services and 2019/20 Charges Scheme.
- 2. if your work has not started prior to 1 April 2020 you will have the option to ask for a requote,
- 3. if your work has commenced, you cannot ask for a requote,
- 4. all 2019/20 quotes that are provided between 1 February and 31 March 2020 are valid if they are paid within 90 days of the 1 April 2020,
- 5. SLP and NAV quotations are valid as per transition item 4 as long as the relevant agreements are signed within the same period,
- 6. from 1st April 2020 all quotations will be provided in line with the new charging arrangements for 2020/21,
- 7. if a 2019/20 quotation is accepted and paid during the transition period but after 1st April 2020 and a subsequent requote is required for any major change, then the 2020/21 charges will be applied,
- 8. if we have provided a quotation and a change, such as number of service connections, design change or other significant change is requested we will charge a re-application fee equal to 50% of the application fees set out in our charging arrangements; and
- 9. SLP and NAV variations.

All changes that are required from 1 April 2020 will be charged at the new rules regardless of when the initial quotation was accepted and paid.

To help ensure that all of our customers are well informed of the potential differences in charges between the 2019/20 and the 2020/21, we are proposing to provide a brief information note that explains the changes in process and the location of the 2020/21 charges on our system. This briefing note will be included with all quotations provided between 1 February 2020 and 1 April 2020.

### 9.2 **Questions on our Transitional Arrangements**

Q10) Is our proposed timeframe of 90 days for the acceptance and payment of a 2019/20 quotation reasonable?

Q11) If your answer to Q)10 is no, please specify which elements you disagree with and why?



## **10 Full Questions List**

### **10.1** The questions from all sections are provided below:

Q1) Would an Infrastructure Charge that is varied to reflect the availability of water across the Affinity Water area influence your decision on the purchase of a development site?

Q2) Would the inclusion of a reduced infrastructure charge for the development of water efficient homes encourage the installation of water efficiency devices?

Q3) Should the New Income Offset offered by Affinity Water be offered at a flat rate per property?

Q4) What impact do you anticipate from the change of the Income Offset against Requisition charges to the application of the New Income Offset against Infrastructure Charges?

Q5) What, if any, alternative approaches to the delivery of the New Income Offset would you like Affinity Water to consider?

Q6) Do you agree that it is reasonable for us to evaluate our charges on an annual basis to ensure that they are cost reflective of the service provided?

Q7) What, if any, other approaches would you like Affinity Water to consider, in order to, maintain a cost reflective charge.

Q8) Do you agree that our fees for design must be cost reflective and include our reasonable forecast of costs to allow an open fair market?

Q9) Do you agree that cancellation of design review fees for the first submitted design for SLPS removes a barrier for entry into a competitive market?

Q10) Is our proposed timeframe of 90 days for the acceptance and payment of a 2019/20 quotation reasonable?

Q11) If your answer to Q)10 is no, please specify which elements you disagree with and why?

#### Please return your responses to the questions above to Jordan Scott at

jordan.scott@affinitywater.co.uk

by the 11the November 2019